FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 82 108 547 413
FINANCIAL REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Directors present their report on Finders Resources Limited (“Company”) and its controlled
entities (“consolidated entity“ or “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2013.
Directors
The Directors in office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are:
Gary E Comb
(Appointed 3 June 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Non‐Executive Chairman

—
—

Interest in Shares and Options

—

Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—

BE(Mech), BSc, DipEd
Mr Comb has over 35 years experience in the mining
industry, most recently as Managing Director of Jabiru Metals
Ltd where he oversaw the acquisition, feasibility study and
construction of the Jaguar copper/zinc mine in Western
Australia as well as the successful sale of the company to
Independence Group NL.
250,000 Ordinary Shares
7,500,000 Ordinary Shares under incentive plan
Chairman of Remuneration and Nomination Committee
YTC Resources Limited
Ironbark Zinc Limited
Zenith Minerals Limited (resigned 7 June 2013)

Barry J Cahill
(Appointed 22 August 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Managing Director

—
—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—
—

BE (Mining), MAusIMM, MAICD
Mr Cahill is a mining engineer with over 25 years experience
in exploration, operational mining and management
throughout Australia. He has extensive experience in the
management of all facets of operating mines including
regional exploration, resource drilling, underground and open
pit mining, ore processing facilities, both as a mining
contractor and an operator. He has also had particular
experience in the management of project development and
construction from initial exploration drilling phase right
through to project funding and then onto project
commissioning and development. Mr Cahill has been an
executive director of a number of public companies including
operations director of Perilya Limited, managing director of
Australian Mines Limited and managing director of Norseman
Gold Plc, a company listed on the London AIM market and
the ASX. He is a member of the Australasian Institute of
Mining & Metallurgy and a member of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.
3,000,000 Ordinary Shares under incentive plan
Nil
Norseman Gold Plc (resigned 16 February 2012)
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Christopher B Farmer
(Appointed 30 March 2004)
Qualifications

—

Executive Director ‐ Indonesia

—

Experience

—

Interest in Shares and Options

—

Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—

BSc (Hons) (University of Southampton), MBA (Ashridge), PhD
(Royal School of Mines, Imperial College)
Dr Farmer has over 20 years of international experience in all
aspects of exploration, with a strong emphasis on business
development. He was Managing Director of the Company
until 22 August 2013.
5,965,695 Ordinary Shares
1,500,000 Ordinary Shares under employee incentive plan
Nil
Nil

Gavin A Caudle
(Appointed 15 August 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Non‐Executive Director

—
—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities

—
—

Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—

BCom, CA
Mr Caudle has over 20 years experience in the finance and
investment sectors in Australia, Singapore and Indonesia. He
was previously a partner in the Arthur Andersen Jakarta
office and Country Head of the Investment Bank, Salomon
Smith Barney, for Indonesia. Since 2003, together with his
partners, Mr Caudle has developed numerous successful
businesses
including
Tower
Bersama
Group
(a
telecommunications infrastructure business) and Provident
Agro (a plantation business) with assets valued at more than
$1 billion.
71,320,666 Ordinary Shares
Chairman of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Sihayo Gold Limited
Sumatra Copper & Gold Plc

Gordon T Galt
(Appointed 22 August 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Non‐Executive Director

—
—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities

—
—

Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—

BE (Mining)
Mr Galt is a mining engineer with over 40 years’ experience.
He is currently a Principal of Taurus Funds Management,
Chairman of Delta SBD and Nucoal Resources and a Director
of Aquila Resources. He was formerly Chairman of Discovery
Metals Limited and Managing Director of Newcrest Mining
Limited among other roles.
Nil
Member of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Aquila Resources Limited
Nucoal Resources Ltd
Delta SBD Ltd
US Master Holdings Ltd
Discovery Metals Limited (resigned 20 May 2013)
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Former Directors
Russell J Fountain
(Appointed 30 March 2004,
Resigned 20 August 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Non‐Executive Director

—
—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—
—

BSc (University of Sydney), PhD (University of Sydney), FAIG
Dr Fountain has over 40 years of successful international
experience in all aspects of mineral exploration, project
feasibility and development of mining projects.
7,505,277 Ordinary Shares
Member of Remuneration Committee
Geopacific Resources NL (appointed 9 May 2006)

Robert P Thomson
(Appointed 6 January 2009,
Resigned 15 August 2013)
Qualifications

—

Executive Director ‐ Development

—

Experience

—

Interest in Shares and Options

—

Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—

BE (Mining) (University of Queensland), MBA (University of
Wollongong), FAusIMM
Mr Thomson has over 30 years of Australian and
international mining experience. He has worked on 5 Asian
development projects in the last 13 years including GM
Development, Chatree Gold Mine in Thailand and Project
Director, Sepon Gold Mine in Laos. Mr Thomson was CEO of
Climax Mining Limited from 2003 to 2006 and Asian Mineral
Resources Limited from 2006 to 2008.
750,000 Ordinary Shares under employee incentive plan
2,000,000 options expiring 8 May 2014
(exercise price ‐ $0.30)
Nil
Nil

Stephen J Lonergan
(Appointed 22 March 2005,
Resigned 20 August 2013)
Qualifications

—

Independent Non‐Executive Director

—

Experience

—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities

—
—

LLB (Hons) (Australian National University), LLM (McGill
University)
Mr Lonergan is a commercial lawyer based in Sydney with
more than 30 years experience in the Australian and
international mining industry, having been General Counsel of
Pancontinental Mining Group, a partner at Baker & McKenzie
Sydney, and General Counsel and Company Secretary of
Savage Resources Limited and CBH Resources Limited. He is
currently Executive Director – Commercial and Company
Secretary of KBL Mining Limited.
70,733 Ordinary Shares
Member of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees
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Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—

Stephen R de Belle
—
(Appointed 27 November 2004,
Resigned 20 August 2013)
Qualifications
—

Paradigm Metals Limited (18 November 2003 – 31 December
2012)
KBL Mining Limited (appointed 23 November 2010)
Independent Non‐Executive Director

Experience

—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—
—

BA (Macquarie University), MSc (London University), MTCP
(University of Sydney)
Mr de Belle has been closely involved with the start‐up and
operation of iron ore, coal, base metals, gold and petroleum
projects and companies, and has particular expertise in the
development and financing of projects in the resources and
infrastructure sectors both in Australia and overseas. He is
currently managing director of a geothermal and power
technology company.
4,588,265 Ordinary Shares
Chairman of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees
Mantle Mining Corporation Limited (appointed 3 July 2006)

T Quinn Roussel
(Appointed 25 March 2009,
Resigned 3 June 2013)
Qualifications

—

Non‐Executive Director

—

Experience

—

Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—
—

BSc (Mining Engineering) (Colorado School of Mines), MBA
(University of South Carolina and Wirtschafts Universitat –
Wien)
Mr Roussel is a US based Principal of Resource Capital Funds
(“RCF”), a mining‐focused private equity firm investing in hard
rock mineral commodities at various stages of
development. Prior to joining RCF he was Director of Business
Development at Asian American Coal in China. He has also
served as an engineer in coal and gold mines.
Nil
Member of Remuneration Committee
Malaga Inc (23 June 2011 – 13 December 2012)
Forbes & Manhattan Coal Corp – TSX: FMC (appointed 21 May
2013

James H Wentworth
(Appointed 8 March 2011,
Resigned 15 August 2013)
Qualifications
Experience

—

Finance Director

—
—

LLB (Hons), BCom (University of Queensland)
Mr Wentworth is a qualified solicitor with over 20 years of
financial and commercial experience, focussing on the mining
and mining services industries. Prior to joining the Company,
he spent nine years with Sydney‐based private equity firm
CHAMP Ventures where he was a director and member of the
investment committee.
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Interest in Shares and Options
Special Responsibilities
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years

—
—
—

1,100,000 Ordinary Shares under employee incentive plan
Nil
Mastermyne Group Limited (appointed 30 March 2011)

Company Secretary
James H Wentworth is the company secretary. A description of his qualifications and experience is
set out above.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year were ‐
a)
b)
c)

Pre‐development activities in preparation for the development of the Wetar Copper Project;
Upgrading of 1,825tpa SX‐EW plant and preparation for re‐start of operations at Wetar; and
Exploration for copper and gold in Indonesia.

There was no significant change in the nature of those activities during the financial year.
Operating and Financial Review
Wetar Copper Project
Forestry Permit
As reported in prior periods, development of the Wetar Copper Project (“Project”) was partly
dependent on access to the Project area being granted, either on the earlier of the grant of a
production stage forestry use permit (referred to as a “Pinjam Pakai” in Indonesia), or the
completion of a government sponsored spatial plan in which parts of the Province of Maluku
(including the Project area) are rezoned to non‐forestry land.
A production stage forestry use permit (“Pinjam Pakai”) was finally awarded to PT Batutua Kharisma
Permai (“BKP”) in July 2013. The forestry permit allows the company access to the Project area to
now carry out development, mining and production activities. The permit expires in December
2031.
BKP is the Indonesian subsidiary (70%‐owned by PT Batutua Tembaga Raya (“BTR”), a wholly‐owned
subsidiary of Finders) which holds the mining permit for the Wetar Copper Project (“Project”)
granted in 2011. Separately, BTR holds a business licence for processing and refining, also granted in
2011, which allows the company to process the ore from Wetar to produce LME Grade A copper
cathode.
In December 2013, the Indonesian government released the new spatial plan for the Province of
Maluku. Under the new spatial plan, the entire area of the Kali Kuning resource, the processing area
for the Project and most of the Lerokis resource has been re‐zoned as non‐forestry land. All of the
Meron resource is now also zoned non‐forestry land.
Whilst the new spatial plan is no longer required for the development to proceed, it offers a number
of potential benefits in the project development not available under the Pinjam Pakai, the
boundaries of which constrained Finders’ ability to optimise the project. The spatial plan will allow
Finders to assess the benefits of:
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Reducing slope angles on the pit and stormwater dams to reduce or remove the need for
ground support



Reducing corners in the valley access road to improve traffic flow



Use additional areas for waste storage, increasing the usable pad space



Relocating and increasing the footprint of the power station, fuel storage and workshop



Centralised crushing and a more efficient services corridor.

Indonesian regulatory changes
The Indonesian government introduced a ban on the export of unprocessed ore effective 1 February
2014. Copper cathode produced at Wetar is of LME Grade A quality and meets the 99% purity
threshold for in‐country processing and will not be affected by the new regulation.
Revised Bankable Feasibility Study
In preparation for the project financing, the Group has also undertaken a review and updating of the
Bankable Feasibility Study (“BFS”) for the Project. The review yielded the following positive results –
1. An updated ore reserve estimate with approximately 210,000 tonnes of contained copper,
an increase of 10,000 tonnes over the previous estimate.
2. A revised BFS which reduced the Project capital intensity, reduced overall funding
requirement, reduced construction timing, increased total and maximum copper production
and produced earlier stronger cashflow.
The revised BFS is based on a new development strategy under which the previous two stage
expansion will be replaced by a simpler construction plan involving the expansion of the ex‐Whim
Creek Solvent Extraction ‐ Electrowinning (“SX‐EW”) plant to 25,000tpa copper cathode capacity.
The construction time is expected to be reduced to 15 months.
Key financial metrics of the revised BFS at various copper prices are ‐
Flat LOM Copper Price (US$/t)
Price Case
LOM Cash Surplus (US$m)
Project NPV10 (US$m)
Project IRR

$6,000

$6,500

$7,000

$7,500

$8,000

338

395

452

509

566

195

234

273

312

351

52%

60%

67%

75%

83%

SX‐EW Plant Restart
During the year, the directors approved the upgrading of the existing 1,825tpa SX‐EW plant to a
production capacity of 3,000tpa copper cathode. Commissioning of the plant (originally targeted for
December 2013) was delayed until March 2014 due to material supply disruptions and inclement
weather.
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The feed for the SX‐EW plant will be from 140,000 tonnes of ore mined from the Kali Kuning pit. The
ore will be crushed and stacked on the heap area from the previous production campaign where the
spent ore have been removed and the leach pads have been relined.
Project finance
Following completion of the revised BFS, the Company has re‐engaged with potential project
financiers. In addition to the financiers who previously offered the Company a US$138 million
facility, the Company has also received indicative term sheets from a number of other financiers.
The financiers are in the process of completing their due diligence. The Company is targeting
completion of project financing during the second quarter of 2014.
The Company has also received proposals in relation to mezzanine financing and cornerstone equity
investments. These proposals are currently being assessed.
Ojolali Gold‐Silver Project
The Ojolali exploration permit expired on 11 March 2014 and has been extended for a further 12
months. There was no exploration activity of note to report at the Ojolali Gold‐Silver Project during
the year.
Operating Results
The consolidated loss after income tax for the year was $20,383,000 (2012: $19,800,000).
Pre‐development, personnel and finance costs represent the bulk of the loss. The Company has
capitalized direct project development costs but has written off all other costs incurred during this
period ahead of the restart of the 3,000tpa SX‐EW plant and development of the main 25,000tpa
plant.
A significant part of the loss was also contributed by interest and other financing costs ($4.8 million)
incurred largely in connection with options granted in consideration of a loan facility and Wetar
project financing. The value of the options were amortised, resulting in a charge of $3.9 million to
the profit and loss statement.
The Indonesian subsidiaries’ accounts are largely reported in United States Dollar and are translated
into Australian Dollar for group reporting purposes. The Australian Dollar started the year at a rate
of 1.0384 against its United States counterpart and ended the year 14% weaker at AUD1.00 = USD
0.8948. When translated to Australian Dollar for group reporting purposes, the Company has
recognized a credit adjustment of $5.2 million which is reported in Other Comprehensive Income.
Cashflow
Funding during the year was provided from share placements ($22.7 million) and the exercise of 50
million options at $0.20 each which raised $10.0 million. The Company also placed shares
subsequent to the year‐end to raise $10.0 million, of which $5.0 million was received prior to the
year‐end and has been recognized in the financial statements as share capital received in advance.
Financial Position
Resource Capital Funds (“RCF”), Taurus Funds Management Pty Ltd (“Taurus”) and Acorn Capital
Limited (“Acorn”), three of the Company’s major shareholders, previously provided a $16.0 million
interesting bearing loan facility to the Company. At 31 December 2012, the total loan outstanding
was $14.44 million, of which $440,000 (owed to Acorn) was converted into shares in January 2013.
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The remaining loan of $14.0 million was subsequently converted into shares during the year. At 31
December 2013, the Company had no interest bearing debt.
The Group made a loss of $20,383,000 for the year, with net cash outflows from operations of
$13,581,000.
As noted above, the Group has received the required permits to commence development of the
Project. It has also completed a revised bankable feasibility study and has now re‐engaged with
potential project financiers to raise the required debt funding for the Project development.
However, as referred to in Note 1 of the financial statements, the continuing viability of the
Company and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and commitments as they
fall due are dependent upon the Company being successful in securing project finance and raising
additional equity for the Project development, currently estimated at about US$180 million not
including separately funded VAT (if required) and, until project finance is secured, the Company
being able to secure interim funding. Until the matters referred to in the foregoing are finalised,
there is material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt as to whether the Company will
continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and settle its liabilities
and commitments in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial
report. The audit opinion for the year ended 31 December 2013 therefore includes an emphasis of
matter in this regard.
Outlook
The Company’s main focus is to arrange funding for the development of the Project as soon as
possible to minimise any further delays to the Project construction. To this end, the directors are
also cognizant of the value of the Project once developed and aim to fund the Project development
in a way to maximize value for the shareholders.
The Directors are targeting commencement of the project development in the third quarter of 2014
or as soon as the development costs are fully funded.
Significant Changes in State of Affairs
The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity occurred during the
financial year:
a)
b)
c)

Loans totaling $14.44 million together with accrued interest (refer Note 13) were converted
into 89.9 million shares in the Company.
The Company raised $12.7 million during the year from the placement of 66.1 million shares
at prices between $0.17 and $0.20 per share.
In January 2013, pursuant to a subscription agreement, Provident Capital Partners Pte Ltd
were granted 50 million options at an exercise price of $0.20 each. The options were
exercised following the grant of the Wetar forestry permit, which provided the Company with
a $10.0 million cash injection.
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Likely Developments and Expected Results
Other than as referred to in this report, further information as to likely developments in the
operations of the consolidated entity and the likely results of those operations would, in the opinion
of the Directors, be speculative and/or prejudicial to the interests of the consolidated entity.
Significant Events after Balance Date
As noted elsewhere in this report, subsequent to balance date, the company raised a further $10.0
million through a share placement of 55.5 million shares at $0.18 per share, of which $5.0 million of
the share application money was received prior to balance date and has been recognised in the
financial statements as share capital received in advance.
Other than the above, the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance, which has arisen
since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:
a)
b)
c)

the operations of the consolidated entity;
the result of those operations; or
the state of affairs of the consolidated entity;

in subsequent financial years.
Dividends Paid or Recommended
There was no dividend paid, recommended or declared but not paid, during the financial year.
Environmental Issues
The consolidated entity adopts “best practice” environmental management techniques from the
wider mining community, particularly Australian standards of operation, in managing environmental
issues at all its project areas.
In each of the project areas, the consolidated entity has engaged reputable independent consultants
to undertake extensive environmental studies, including base line studies, design of monitoring
programmes and rehabilitation. The consolidated entity is not aware of any endangered species of
flora or fauna in these project areas.
Projects are subject to relevant environmental regulation in Indonesia and will themselves have
varying levels and types of potential impact on the natural environment. At Ojolali, exploration work
typically has a minimal impact on the environment. At Wetar, the location has historical degradation
from former gold mining operations and the baseline reflects water quality in an area of acid rock
drainage and former gold mining activities, monitoring activities are conducted under the auspices
of an approved environmental permit and all environmental studies and on‐going monitoring results
are reported on a quarterly basis to the relevant Indonesian authorities.
The consolidated entity is required to comply with Indonesian laws and regulations regarding
environmental matters, including disturbance and rehabilitation issues and the discharge of
hazardous waste and materials.
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Meetings of Directors and Board Committees
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Directors Meetings
Eligible to
attend
9
Gary E Comb
5
Barry J Cahill
16
Christopher B Farmer
5
Gavin A Caudle
5
Gordon T Galt
11
Russell J Fountain
Robert P Thomson
11
Stephen R de Belle
11
Stephen J Lonergan
11
T Quinn Roussel
7
James H Wentworth
11

Attended
8
5
16
4
5
11
11
11
11
6
11

Committee Meetings
Remuneration &
Audit
Nomination
Eligible to Attended Eligible to Attended
attend
attend
2
2

1
1

1
1

2
2
2

2
2
2

1
1

1
1

2
2
2

2
2
2

Indemnifying Directors and Other Officers
The Company’s constitution provides that “to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001,
the Company may indemnify:
a)
every person who is or has been an officer of the Company; and
b)
where the Board of Directors considers it appropriate to do so, any person who is or has been
an officer of a related body corporate of the Company;
against any liability incurred by that person in his or her capacity as an officer of the Company or of
the related body corporate (as the case may be).”
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium and other charges for a Directors and
Officers Liability Insurance Policy for the benefit of the directors, secretary, officers and employees
of the Company. The policy prohibits disclosure of the terms of the policy, including the amount
insured, the insuring clauses and exclusions and the amount of premium paid.
Options
As referred to above, pursuant to a subscription agreement with Provident Capital Partners Pte Ltd
referred to above, the Company issued 50 million options over unissued shares exercisable at $0.20
per share at any time up to 30 September 2013.
Other than the above, no options over unissued ordinary shares were granted during or since the
end of the financial year.
The options over unissued ordinary shares outstanding at the date of this report are detailed in Note
16 to the financial statements. The option holders do not have any right by virtue of the options to
participate in any share issue of any other body corporate.
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Since the end of the previous financial year, 50 million shares have been issued at a price of $0.20
per share by virtue of the exercise of the options granted to Provident.
Non‐audit Services
The Company may engage the services of its auditor on other assignments in addition to the
statutory audit where the firm’s expertise and experience with the Company are beneficial.
During the financial year, the Company engaged the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for tax
consulting services, for which the Company paid $3,000 (2012: $19,300) in fees. A subsidiary of the
Company audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Indonesia also paid $17,755 (2012: $117,154) to that
firm for taxation services.
The Directors have considered the level and nature of the non‐audit services provided by the auditor
during the year and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that
the provision of the non‐audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that
the nature and scope of the non‐audit services provided by the auditors did not compromise the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
Full details of the auditor’s remuneration are set out in Note 24 to the financial statements.
Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration pursuant to section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set
out on page 17.
Rounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand Dollars
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 issued by the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts
in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars, unless otherwise stated.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel.
Remuneration policy
The remuneration policy is designed to align key management personnel objectives with shareholder
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long‐
term incentives based on key performance indicators affecting the consolidated entity’s operational
and financial results. The policy ensures that the remuneration level is commensurate with the
person’s duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and
motivating employees of the highest calibre, as well as creating goal congruence between directors,
executives, shareholders and all other stakeholders.
The remuneration policy, which sets the terms and conditions for senior executives, was developed
by the Remuneration Committee, after seeking professional advice from independent consultants
and was approved by the Board.
All key management personnel receive a base salary, superannuation and may benefit from the
Company’s performance bonus plan.
The Board (including non‐executive directors) are
remunerated by means of a fixed annual salary and superannuation, having regard to comparable
companies from time to time.
The employment conditions of the managing director and specified executives are formalised in
contracts of employment.
Board policy is to remunerate non‐executive directors at market rates for time, commitment and
responsibilities. The Remuneration Committee determines payments to the non‐executive directors
and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability.
Independent external advice is sought when required.
The Company's Constitution requires that the remuneration payable from time to time to non‐
executive directors shall be an amount not exceeding in aggregate a maximum sum that is from time
to time approved by resolution of the Company, currently $350,000 per annum. In accordance with
the Constitution, the Board has set the directors fees as follows –
Non‐Executive Chairman
Non‐Executive Directors

$50,000 per annum
$36,000 per annum

The Company also makes statutory superannuation contributions, currently 9.25% of directors’ fees,
for the benefit of the directors. There are no schemes for retirement benefits other than statutory
superannuation for both executives and non‐executive directors.
Fees for non‐executive directors are not linked to the performance of the consolidated entity.
However, to align directors’ interests with those of shareholders, the directors are encouraged to
hold shares in the Company.
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Performance‐based remuneration
Short‐term incentives
A performance bonus plan was developed and agreed by the Remuneration Committee with the aim
of providing alignment between executives and shareholders’ interests in respect of the financial
performance of the Company. The payment of bonuses and other incentive payments are reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually as part of the review of executive remuneration and a
recommendation is put to the Board for approval. The Board can exercise its discretion in relation to
approving bonuses and can recommend changes to the Remuneration Committee’s
recommendations. Any changes must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria.
The Company has also adopted a Performance Rights Plan (approved by shareholders on 5
November 2013). The directors consider that it is desirable to maintain a plan under which a limited
number of employees and directors of the Company and its subsidiaries may be offered
performance rights over shares in the Company instead of annual bonuses in order to increase the
range of potential incentives available to them and to strengthen links between the Company and
the participants.
Selected personnel will be offered participation in the Performance Rights Plan in lieu of part of or all
of their annual short term incentive. Performance rights which will entitle the holder to ordinary
shares in the Company will be offered to selected executives. The number of performance rights will
be determined by the annual bonus entitlement and the market price of ordinary shares at the time
of issue.
Long‐term incentives
The Company has an Employee Share Ownership Plan (“Share Plan”) (adopted pursuant to
shareholders’ approval on 5 November 2013) designed to provide long‐term incentives to
employees of the consolidated entity.
Under the Share Plan, employees are offered the opportunity to acquire shares in the Company at a
pre‐determined price, funded by a limited recourse interest‐free loan from the Company. The
shares offered to the employees are subject to vesting conditions (ie. performance and time hurdles)
and are released to the employees only upon the performance hurdles being met and the loans
repaid. Participation in the Share Plan is at the discretion of the Board.
Company performance and directors and executive remuneration
At this stage of the Company’s development, performance‐based bonuses and incentive securities
are structured for achieving milestones towards the full scale development of the Wetar Copper
Project, including securing finance and meeting development and production targets. Due to the
delays in securing permitting for the development of the Project, no securities issued were vested
during the year and no bonuses have been paid.
Incentive shares are structured with an emphasis on delivery of the Wetar Copper Project financing
and development on time and on budget as well as achieving the nameplate production capacity.
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Details of remuneration
The key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the year were –
Directors
Gary G Comb
Barry J Cahill
Christopher B Farmer
Gordon T Galt
Gavin A Caudle
Russell J Fountain
Robert P Thomson
James H Wentworth
Stephen R de Belle
Stephen J Lonergan
T Quinn Roussel

Non‐Executive Chairman (appointed 3 June 2013)
Managing Director (appointed 22 August 2013)
Executive Director ‐ Indonesia
Non‐Executive Director (appointed 22 August 2013)
Non‐Executive Director (appointed 15 August 2013)
Non‐Executive Chairman (resigned 20 August 2013)
Executive Director – Development (resigned 15 August 2013)
Finance Director (resigned 15 August 2013)
Independent Non‐Executive Director (resigned 20 August 2013)
Independent Non‐Executive Director (resigned 20 August 2013)
Non‐Executive Director (resigned 3 June 2013)

Other key management personnel
James H Wentworth
Chief Financial Officer (appointed 15 August 2013)
Chin Haw Lim
Chief Financial Officer (ceased 15 August 2013)

Consolidated

2013

Directors
Gary E Comb
Barry J Cahill
Christopher B Farmer
Gavin A Caudle
Gordon T Galt
Russell J Fountain
Robert P Thomson
James H Wentworth
Stephen R de Belle
Stephen J Lonergan
T Quinn Roussel

Short Term
Post
Benefits
Employment
Salary & fees
Other
Super‐
employment annuation
benefits *
$
$
$

Share‐based
payments
Incentive
shares

Total

$

$

104,489
217,339
472,075
‐
9,844
125,309
367,543
457,845
21,455
21,455
16,000

‐
‐
70,154
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

7,954
6,329
31,500
‐
‐
12,310
‐
7,382
1,939
1,939
‐

14,583
5,833
9,900
‐
‐
‐
‐
7,260
‐
‐
‐

127,026
229,501
583,629
‐
9,844
137,619
367,543
472,487
23,394
23,394
16,000

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim
159,375
1,972,729

‐
70,154

10,457
79,810

30,176
67,752

200,008
2, 190,445
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2012

Directors
Russell J Fountain
Christopher B Farmer
Robert P Thomson
James H Wentworth
Stephen R de Belle
Stephen J Lonergan
T Quinn Roussel

Short Term
Post
Benefits
Employment
Salary & fees
Other
Super‐
annuation
employment
benefits *
$
$
$
140,287
350,000
331,250
291,744
36,000
36,000
36,000

‐
110,309
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

13,004
31,500
‐
8,256
3,240
3,240
‐

Share‐based
payments
Incentive
shares

Total

$

$

‐
118,800
121,400
87,120
‐
‐
‐

153,291
610,609
452,650
387,120
39,240
39,240
36,000

Other key management personnel
16,123
41,062
282,184
Chin Haw Lim
224,999
‐
1,446,280
110,309
75,363
368,382
2,000,334
* Other employment benefits represent costs of housing, school fees and motor vehicle paid for
expatriate employees.
Share‐based payments
During the year, a total of 10,500,000 shares were granted to the Chairman and Managing Director
on terms and conditions similar to the Share Plan referred to above at prices between $0.208 and
$0.308 per share. Share–based compensation under which directors and employees purchase
shares funded by limited recourse loans from the Company is measured as the value of the option
embedded in the shares issued, as follows –

Number of Shares
Grant Date
Expiry Date
Share (exercise) price
Vesting condition

Value of embedded
option
Maximum total value of
option yet to vest

Tranche 1
3,500,000
8 November 2013
7 November 2021
$0.2008
Completion of the
project
finance
enabling construction
of a 25,000tpa solvent
extraction‐
electrowinning
(SX/EW) plant for the
Wetar Copper Project
and
Gary
Comb
remaining a Director of
the Company for at
least two years from
the date of issue of the
shares
$0.077

Tranche 2
3,500,000
8 November 2013
7 November 2021
$0.2508
Production of at least
5,000
tonnes
of
copper cathode from
the Wetar Copper
Project SX/EW plant
(nameplate capacity
25,000 tpa) and Gary
Comb remaining a
Director
of
the
Company for at least
three years from the
date of issue of the
shares
$0.063

Tranche 3
3,500,000
8 November 2013
7 November 2021
$0.3008
Expansion of Wetar
life of mine production
from
the
current
150,000 tonnes copper
cathode
to
the
equivalent of at least
250,000 tonnes of
copper cathode and
Gary Comb remaining
a Director of the
Company for at least
four years from the
date of issue of the
shares
$0.052

$269,500

$220,500

$182,000

15

I
pwe
Auditor's Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of Finders Resources Limited for the year ended 3r December
zor3, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Abt
zoot in relation to the audit; and

b)

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Finders Resources Limited and the entities it controlled
during the period.

ñr,/'/
Marc Upcroft
Partner

Sydney
zB March zor4

PricewaterhouseCoopers

PrícewqterhouseCoopers, ABN gz 78o 4SS 757
Dørling ParkTower z, zot Sussex Street, GPO BOX z6go, SYDNEY NSW ttTt
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999,www.ptac.com.au
Liabilíty limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards lægisìation.
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FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
Note
Interest revenue
Other income
Development costs written‐off
Personnel costs
Pre‐development costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Exchange gain/(loss)
Exploration expenditure written‐off
Other expenses
Loss before income tax
Income tax expense
Loss for the year

3
10

4

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit
or loss
Adjustments from translation of
foreign controlled entities
Other comprehensive income, net of
tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year:

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of Finders Resources Limited
Non controlling interests

Total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to:
Owners of Finders Resources Limited
Non controlling interests

Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

25

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

67
‐
(1,218)
(2,796)
(9,696)
(4,802)
(179)
315
(201)
(1,873)
(20,383)
‐
(20,383)

64
83
(1,140)
(2,435)
(7,304)
(6,458)
(361)
(391)
(314)
(1,544)
(19,800)
‐
(19,800)

5,186

(464)

5,186

(464)

(15,197)

(20,264)

(19,868)
(515)
(20,383)

(19,106)
(694)
(19,800)

(14,071)
(1,126)
(15,197)

(19,635)
(629)
(20,264)

(5.0 cents)
(5.0 cents)

(6.9 cents)
(6.9 cents)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Financial assets
Inventories
Other assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON‐CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables
Financial assets
Plant and equipment
Development expenditure
TOTAL NON‐CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Current tax liabilities
Provisions
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON‐CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions
TOTAL NON‐CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Capital and reserves attributable
to owners of Finders Resources Limited
Non‐controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY

Note

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

5
6
7
8
9

7,872
358
‐
808
123
9,161

1,770
753
351
409
72
3,355

6
7
10
11

1,445
148
21,657
21,185
44,435
53,596

346
88
16,217
15,716
32,367
35,722

12
13

4,576
‐
156
350
5,082

2,298
11,492
‐
391
14,181

14

2,319
2,319
7,401
46,195

1,735
1,735
15,916
19,806

15
17

137,358
11,143
(98,994)

96,488
4,652
(79,126)

49,507

22,014

(3,312)
46,195

(2,208)
19,806

14

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
Share Accumulated Equity
Losses Reserve
Capital

Balance at 1 Jan 2013
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
loss
Transactions with
owners recorded
directly in equity:
Shares issued during the
year
Share capital received in
advance
Share issue expenses
Share‐based payments
Option premium
Transaction with non‐
controlling interest

Foreign Share‐based
Non‐
Currency Payments Controlling
Translation
Reserve Interest
Reserve

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

96,488

(79,126)
(19,868)

5,095

(2,050)

1,607

5,797

$’000

Total

$’000

(2,208) 19,806
(515) (20,383)
(610)
5,187

37,636

37,636

5,000

5,000

(1,766)

(1,766)
(256)
950

(256)
950

Balance at 31 Dec 2013

137,358

(98,994)

6,045

3,747

1,351

21
(3,312)

21
46,195

Balance at 1 Jan 2012
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
loss
Transactions with
owners recorded
directly in equity:
Shares issued during the
year
Share‐based payments
Option premium
Balance at 31 Dec 2012

86,747
‐
‐

(60,020)
(19,106)
‐

547
‐
‐

(1,644)
‐
(406)

1,066
‐
‐

(1,456) 25,240
(694) (19,800)
(58)
(464)

9,741

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

9,741

‐
‐
96,488

‐
‐
(79,126)

‐
4,548
5,095

‐
‐
(2,050)

541
‐
1,607

‐
‐
(2,208)

541
4,548
19,806

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments to suppliers and employees
(inclusive of goods and services tax)
Interest received
Taxes paid
Net cash used in operating activities

26

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and
equipment
Payments for exploration expenditure
Payments for development expenditure
Payment for investment
(Payment)/Refund of security deposits
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares and
converting notes
Payment for share issue expenses
Proceeds from borrowings
Payments for Interest and other finance
costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

13

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
financial year
Exchange rate effect
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
financial year

5

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(12,887)

(7,932)

72
(766)
(13,581)

76
(134)
(7,990)

(1,653)

(2,971)

(366)
(4,174)
‐
(59)
(6,252)

(314)
(3,295)
(351)
42
(6,889)

27,687

5,335

(1,289)
‐
(481)

9,500
(1,749)

25,917

13,085

6,084
1,770

(1,794)
3,571

18

(7)

7,872

1,770

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
NOTE 1: BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL REPORT
Finders Resources Limited is a public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose
shares are traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).
This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Finders Resources
Limited and controlled entities (“consolidated entity”).
The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 27
March 2014. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
a.
Statement of Compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. The Company is a for‐
profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
Compliance with IFRS
The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
b.
Historical Cost Convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified,
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non‐current assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities.
c.
Going Concern
The Group completed a Bankable Feasibility Study (“BFS”) on the Wetar Copper Project (“Project”) in
2011 which confirmed the technical feasibility and economic robustness of the Project. It has been
granted key mining permits for the Project as well as a production stage forestry use permit
(referred to as a “Pinjam Pakai” in Indonesia) which allows it access to the Project area to conduct
development, mining and production activities, although the Pinjam Pakai is now largely redundant
following the Indonesian government’s release of a new spatial plan which rezoned almost all of the
Project area as non‐forestry land.
The Group updated and revised the BFS during the year. The revised BFS which adopted a new
development strategy reduces the construction period to 15 months and increases production
flexibility. The previous two stage expansion has been replaced by a simpler construction plan
involving the expansion of the ex‐Whim Creek SX‐EW plant to 25,000 tpa copper cathode capacity,
with reductions in mine development costs.
The Group has now re‐engaged with potential project financiers to secure debt funding for the
Project development.
Pending the main Project development, the Group has received equity funds from shareholders and
other investors to support its activities. During the year, the Company raised $22.7 million from
share placements and the exercise of options. Subsequent to balance date, the Company raised a
further $10.0 million, of which $5.0 million was received prior to year end and is recognised in the
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financial statements. The Group has also upgraded the 1,825tpa SX‐EW plant on Wetar Island to
3,000tpa production capacity and is re‐commencing copper production to generate some early
cashflow to supplement the equity raisings.
The Group made a loss of $20,383,000 for the year, with net cash outflows from operations of
$13,581,000.
The continuing viability of the Company and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its
debts and commitments as they fall due are dependent upon the Company being successful in
securing project finance and raising additional equity for the Project development, currently
estimated at about US$180 million not including separately funded VAT (if required) and, until
project finance is secured, the Company being able to secure interim funding. Until these matters
are finalised, there is material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt as to whether the
Company will continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and settle
its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the
financial report.
The Directors believe that the Company will be successful in the above matters and, accordingly,
have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis. At this time, the Directors are of the
opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the amount at which it is
recorded in the financial report at 31 December 2013. Accordingly, no adjustments have been made
to the financial report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts
or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company not
continue as a going concern.
d.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the consolidated entity.
Key areas of judgement are –
‐
Determination of ore reserve and resource estimates
‐
Capitalisation and impairment of exploration and evaluation costs
‐
Assumptions underlying the valuations of share options issued
Key areas of estimation are –
‐
Estimation of rehabilitation and restoration costs and the timing of such expenditure
‐
Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges
The Directors have reviewed the carrying values of assets at balance date and concluded that there
has been no impairment. As noted in 1(c), development costs are carried forward on the
expectation the Company will be successful in securing project finance and raising additional equity
for the development of the Wetar Copper Project .
NOTE 2: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out
below. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
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a.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Finders
Resources Limited and all entities which Finders Resources Limited controlled from time to time
during the year and at balance date. Controlled entities are all those entities over which the
consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one‐half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the consolidated entity controls another entity.
At reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities, as well as their results for
the period then ended, are incorporated into the consolidated financial statements. Where
control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included from the date on
which control commences. Where control of an entity ceases during a financial year its results
are included for that part of the year during which control exists. All intercompany balances and
transactions, including recognised profits arising from intra‐group transactions are eliminated in
full. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed where necessary to ensure consistencies
with those policies applied by the parent entity.

b.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible note is determined using a market interest
rate for an equivalent non‐convertible debt instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability
on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the note. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised and
included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the consolidated entity has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance
date.
Borrowing costs are capitalised and amortised over the life of the facility.

c.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short‐
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short‐term borrowings in current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet.

d.

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

e.

Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit attributable to members, adjusted
to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for any bonus element.
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Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit attributable to members,
adjusted for –
(i) costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);
(ii) the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares that have been recognized as expenses;
(iii) other non‐discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would
result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; and
(iv) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares,
adjusted for any bonus element.
f.

Employee Benefits
Annual leave and termination benefits
Provision is made for the consolidated entity’s liability for annual leave and termination benefits
arising from services rendered by employees. Entitlements expected to be settled within 12
months of the balance date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of
the estimated future payments.

g.

Exploration and Development Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried forward in the accounts in respect to areas of
interest for which the rights of tenure are current and where –
(i) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation
of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or
(ii) exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area are
continuing.
Where the expenditure is expected to be recouped through development and economic
exploitation of the area of interest, the accumulated costs are transferred to mine properties
and amortised over the life of the mine in proportion to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral reserves.
Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest which no longer satisfy the above policy
are written off in the period in which that decision is made.
Development expenditure
Development expenditure carried forward represents the accumulation of exploration,
evaluation and development expenditure.
Amortisation of development expenditure is calculated on a unit‐of‐production basis so as to
write off the cost over the life of the project in proportion to the depletion of the anticipated
recoverable mineral reserves.

h.

Financial Instruments
Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that
the Company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date
accounting is adopted).
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Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the
instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are
expensed to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income immediately.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, or cost.
Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are
used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value
with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
The consolidated entity does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint
venture entities as being subject to the requirements of accounting standards specifically
applicable to financial instruments.
i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are either held for
trading for the purpose of short‐term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes,
or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable
performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management
personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in
carrying value being included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
ii. Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
iii. Held‐to‐maturity investments
Held‐to‐maturity investments are non‐derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and
fixed or determinable payments, and it is the consolidated entity’s intention to hold these
investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
iv. Available‐for‐sale financial assets
Available‐for‐sale financial assets are non‐derivative financial assets that are either not suitable
to be classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are
designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities
where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. Available‐for‐sale
financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.
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Impairment of financial assets
The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity
securities classified as available‐for‐sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a
security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available‐for‐sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income – is reclassified from equity and recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments classified as available‐
for‐sale are not reversed through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
If there is evidence of impairment for any of the consolidated entity’s financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
De‐recognition
Financial assets are de‐recognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires
or the asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities
are de‐recognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to
another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non‐cash assets
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
i.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the subsidiaries is measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the
year‐end exchange rate. Non‐monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried
at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non‐monetary items measured at fair value
are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a
qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non‐monetary items are recognised directly in
equity to the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange
difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Subsidiaries
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different
from the consolidated entity’s presentation currency are translated as follows:
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-

assets and liabilities are translated at year‐end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting
date;
income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the
foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated balance sheet. These differences are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the
operation is disposed.
j.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST or Value Added Tax
(VAT), except where the amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the relevant tax
authorities. In these circumstances the GST or VAT is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the
consolidated balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST or VAT.
Cash flows are presented in the consolidated cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for
the GST or VAT component of investing and financing activities, which are presented as
operating cash flows.

k.

Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying values of its assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the
asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
consolidated entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash‐generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

l.

Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses
only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
m.

Inventories
Inventories of copper cathode and work in progress are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes raw materials, labour and other direct expenditure together with
a portion of fixed and variable overhead attributable to the inventory on hand, calculated on a
weighted average basis.
Inventories of consumables and spares are valued at cost less, where appropriate, a provision
for obsolescence.

n.

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the consolidated entity, as lessee, has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in other short‐term and long‐term payables. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and
equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the
consolidated entity will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred
to the consolidated entity as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight‐line basis over the period of the
lease.

o.

Operating Segments
Operating segment information is based on the consolidated entity’s reporting structure and
internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the Directors for the purposes of decision making.
The consolidated entity is developing a copper project on the Indonesian island of Wetar and
conducting mineral exploration on Wetar Island and in Sumatra. The internal reporting
structure is focussed on copper mining and exploration which forms the basis for the operating
segments.
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p.

Plant and Equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Directors to ensure it is
not in excess of the recoverable amount of these assets.
Depreciation
Fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held
ready for use.
Depreciation on copper processing plant and equipment is calculated on a unit‐of‐production
basis so as to write off the cost of each asset in proportion to the depletion of the economically
recoverable mineral reserves.
Depreciation of other plant and equipment is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off
the cost of each asset over its estimated useful life, generally at a rate of between 12.5% and
25% per annum.

q.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a legal or constructive obligation, as
a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result
and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

r.

Rehabilitation and Restoration Costs
Expenditure relating to ongoing rehabilitation and restoration programmes are provided for or
charged to costs of production as incurred. Other rehabilitation and restoration costs are
accrued over the life of the mine. The estimated costs are reassessed on a regular basis and
changes in estimates are dealt with on a prospective basis. The estimates are based on current
costs, current legal requirements and current technology.

s.

Revenue
Sales of copper cathode are recognised when the title and risk have passed to the customer and
the selling price can be determined with reasonable accuracy. All revenue is stated net of the
amount of goods and services tax (GST).
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.

t.

Share‐based Payments
Share‐based compensation benefits are provided to employees under the Company’s incentive
share and option plans. The fair value of securities granted is recognised as an employee benefit
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
recognised over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the
options.
Share–based compensation under which employees purchase shares funded by limited recourse
loans from the Company is measured as the value of the options inherent within the shares
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issued and is expensed over the vesting period of the shares with a corresponding credit to the
share‐based payments reserve.
Share‐based compensation provided to lenders in relation to an interest bearing loan facility is
measured at fair value and is recognised as finance costs with a corresponding increase in
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the term of the facility.
u.

Rounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand Dollars
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 issued by the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission and in accordance with that Class Order,
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

v.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for the 31 December 2013 reporting period. The Group's assessment of the impact
of these new standards and interpretations is set out below:
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009‐11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010‐7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) and AASB 2012‐6 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards ‐ Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. There will be no impact on the Group's accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities
that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss and the Group does not have any such
liabilities. The derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed.
AASB 2011‐4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements (effective 1 July 2013)
In July 2011 the AASB decided to remove the individual key management personnel (KMP)
disclosure requirements from AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, to achieve consistency with
the international equivalent standard and remove a duplication of the requirements with the
Corporations Act 2001. While this will reduce the disclosures that are currently required in the
notes to the financial statements, it will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. The amendments apply from 1 July 2013 and cannot be adopted early.
The Corporations Act requirements in relation to remuneration reports will remain unchanged
for now, but these requirements are currently subject to review and may also be revised in the
near future.
AASB 2012‐3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard ‐ Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities and AASB 2012‐2 Disclosures ‐Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (effective 1 January 2014 and 1 January 2013 respectively)
In June 2012, the AASB approved amendments to the application guidance in AASB 132
Financial Instruments: Presentation, to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities in the balance sheet. These amendments are effective from 1
January 2014. As the Group does not have any offsetting arrangements, the amendments will
not have any impact on the Group's financial statements. The AASB has also introduced more
extensive disclosure requirements into AASB 7 which will apply from 1 January 2013. The
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Group intends to apply the new rules, if applicable, for the first time in the financial year
commencing 1 January 2014.
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

536
76
3,898
292
4,802

1,025
67
3,540
1,826
6,458

829

724

(20,383)

(19,800)

(6,115)

(5,940)

1,169
(77)
‐
387
724
3,912
‐

1,358
162
93
619
483
3,225
‐

60,125

39,557

15,756

10,479

NOTE 3: EXPENSES
Finance costs
Interest charges
Provisions – unwinding of discount
Value of options granted
Other borrowing costs

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments

NOTE 4: INCOME TAX
Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie
tax payable
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit calculated at tax
rate of 30% (2012: 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible
in calculating taxable income:
Finance costs
Share‐based payments
Overseas project expenditure
Other non‐deductible expenses
Difference in overseas tax rate
Deferred tax assets not brought to account
Income tax expense

a)
Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset
has been recognised
Potential tax benefit at 30% (Australia),
25% (Indonesia)

32

FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

7,872

1,770

NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand
a)

b)

Cash at bank
Cash at bank includes $5.0 million which represents share application money received prior to
balance date but for shares which were issued subsequent to balance date.
Risk exposure
The group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 28. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of cash and
cash equivalents mentioned above.

NOTE 6: RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Income tax receivable
Goods and services tax receivable
Other receivables

NON‐CURRENT
Value added tax receivable

157
31
170
358

134
477
142
753

1,445

346

‐

351

148

88

NOTE 7: FINANCIAL ASSETS
CURRENT
Share subscription
NON‐CURRENT
Security deposits
a)

7(a)

Security deposits include $38,000 (2012: $38,000) held by the parent entity’s banker to secure
a bank guarantee issued by the bank on behalf of the parent entity (Note 19). The remaining
security deposits comprise cash held by suppliers to a controlled entity to secure contracts
and payments for goods and services.
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

671
137
808

291
118
409

123

72

24,018
(2,360)
21,657

18,189
(1,972)
16,217

16,217
3,011
(179)
2,609
21,658

13,611
3,258
(361)
(291)
16,217

21,838
(653)
21,185

16,292
(576)
15,716

15,716
2,842
2,627
21,185

13,767
2,253
(304)
15,716

NOTE 8: INVENTORIES
Inventories, at cost
Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress

NOTE 9: OTHER ASSETS
Prepayments

NOTE 10: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

Movements:
Plant and equipment
Opening net book value
Additions
Depreciation charge
Exchange rate effect
Closing net book value

NOTE 11: DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE
Development expenditure
Less: accumulated amortisation

Movements:
Opening net book value
Additions
Exchange rate effect
Closing net book value
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

4,576

2,298

NOTE 12: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade creditors and accruals

Information on the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risks is set out in Note 28.
a)
Foreign currency risks
Trade creditors and accruals are denominated
in the following currencies ‐
Australian Dollar
United States Dollar
Indonesian Rupiah

1,018
2,546
1,012
4,576

1,473
527
298
2,298

‐
‐
‐
‐

14,440
14,440
(2,948)
11,492

NOTE 13: BORROWINGS
CURRENT
Loan (unsecured)

13(a)

Deferred borrowing cost

a)
Loan (unsecured)
The Company had a loan facility (“Facility”) of $16.0 million from three of its major shareholders,
Resource Capital Funds (“RCF”), Taurus Funds Management Pty Limited (“Taurus”) and Acorn Capital
Limited (“Acorn”). The Facility was unsecured and was repayable on the earlier of either the project
equity raising for the development of the Wetar Copper Project, or 24 October 2013. Interest at the
rate of 8% per annum was payable on the loan.
In December 2012, Acorn elected to convert their outstanding loan of $2.0 million to shares at a
conversion price of $0.20 per share. A total of 10 million shares were issued to Acorn, 7.8 million in
December 2012 and 2.2 million in January 2013.
During the year, RCF and Taurus elected to convert their outstanding loan and accrued interest into
shares at a conversion price of $0.17 per share. A total of 86.3 million shares were issued to RCF and
Taurus in consideration for the loan and interest conversion.
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

‐

14,440

350

391

1,010
1,309
2,319

679
1,056
1,735

Movements:
Provision for employee benefits
Opening balance
Provision for year
Exchange rate effect
Closing balance

679
213
118
1,010

551
145
(17)
679

Provision for rehabilitation and restoration
Opening balance
Unwinding of discount
Exchange rate effect
Closing balance

1,056
76
177
1,309

1,012
67
(23)
1,056

b)

Foreign currency risks
The borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies ‐
Australian Dollar

NOTE 14: PROVISIONS
CURRENT
Employee benefits
NON CURRENT
Employee benefits
Rehabilitation and restoration

The provision for rehabilitation and restoration has been recognised in connection with the
consolidated entity’s closure obligations when the Wetar Copper Project ceases operations in the
future. The timing of the site rehabilitation will depend on the mine life of the full scale project to
be developed.
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Note

2013
Number

2012
Number

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Contributed equity
Issued and paid up shares
15(a) 496,481,628 290,516,636
Share capital received in advance
15(a)
‐
‐
Employee incentive shares
15(a)(b),23(b) 14,957,000
8,082,000
Converting Notes
15(c)
‐
‐

127,173
5,000
‐
5,185

91,303
‐
‐
5,185

511,438,628 298,598,636

137,358

96,488

NOTE 15: ISSUED CAPITAL

a)

Issued shares
Number of
shares
‘000

Issue
price
$

Issued
capital
$’000

0.20
0.20
0.19
0.17
0.17
0.17
0.17
0.17
0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20

91,303
3,500
440
276
2,500
3,603
1,570
8,827
233
10,000
2,014
2,000
854
1,500
319

Movements:
2013
01 Jan 2013
30 Jan 2013
30 Jan 2013
31 Jan 2013
20 May 2013
20 May 2013
24 May 2013
01 Jul 2013
01 Jul 2013
08 Aug 2013
16 Aug 2013
23 Aug 2013
12 Sep 2013
11 Oct 2013
17 Oct 2013
08 Nov 2013

31 Dec 2013

Balance at beginning of financial year
Placement of shares
Conversion of loan
Conversion of interest payable
Placement of shares
Conversion of loan
Conversion of loan
Conversion of loan
Conversion of interest payable
Exercise of options
Placement of shares
Placement of shares
Placement of shares
Placement of shares
Placement of shares
Director incentive shares
Share issue expenses
Balance at end of financial year

298,599
17,500
2,200
1,417
15,151
21,840
9,513
53,495
1,412
50,000
10,070
10,000
4,270
7,500
1,596
6,875
511,438
511,438

128,939
(1,766)
127,173

Subsequent to balance date, the Company raised $10.0 million through a share placement of 55.5
million shares at $0.18 per share, of which $5.0 million of the share application money was received
prior to balance date and has been recognised in the financial statements as “Share capital received
in advance”.
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Number of
shares
‘000
2012
01 Jan 2012
09 Jan 2012
09 Jan 2012
23 Jan 2012
23 Jan 2012
30 Mar 2012
18 Apr 2012
29 Jun 2012
29 Jun 2012
28 Sep 2012
24 Oct 2012
19 Dec 2012
31 Dec 2012
31 Dec 2012

Balance at beginning of financial year
Conversion of interest payable on
convertible note
Conversion of loan interest payable
Conversion of convertible note
Conversion of interest payable on
convertible note
Conversion of loan interest payable
Employee options exercised
Loan facility increase fee
Conversion of loan interest payable
Conversion of loan interest payable
Loan extension fee
Conversion of loan
Conversion of loan interest payable
Balance at end of financial year

Issue
price
$

Issued
capital
$’000

279,978
123

0.36

86,747
44

236
3,992
25

0.38
0.36
0.36

89
1,437
9

387
500
272
283
1,724
1,565
7,800
1,714
298,599

0.40
0.30
0.28
0.28
0.19
0.20
0.20
0.19

154
150
75
80
320
320
1,560
319
91,303

b)
Employee incentive shares
The Company has issued incentive shares to employees and executive directors under the Finders
Employee Share Plan as well as incentive shares to the Non‐Executive Chairman on similar terms to
the plan. This share‐based compensation under which the employees and directors purchase shares
funded by limited recourse loans from the Company is measured as the value of the options
inherent within the shares issued and is expensed over the expected life of the shares with a
corresponding credit to the share‐based payments reserve.
c)
Converting Notes
The Company raised US$5,500,000 from Standard Bank Plc in 2012 pursuant to mandatory
Converting Notes, which will convert into 12,248,538 shares in the Company on or before 16 March
2018 at a conversion price of $0.427 per share. The Notes will convert into shares and have been
treated as equity for accounting purposes.
d)
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in
proportion to the number of shares held.
At a general meeting on a show of hands, each shareholder present has one vote and on a poll each
shareholder present has:
(i)
(ii)

one vote for each fully paid share held; and
for each share which is not fully paid a fraction of a vote equivalent to the proportion which
the amount paid up, but not credited as paid up, on that share bears to the total of the
amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited) on that share.
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e)
Capital management
At this stage of the consolidated entity’s development, its funding requirements have largely been
sourced from equity funds. Its objectives in capital management are to ensure that the consolidated
entity can meet its debts as and when they become due and payable and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
Consistent with the above objectives, the Company has raised funds from share placements and a
convertible equity linked facility to advance the development of the Wetar Copper Project and for
working capital.
2013
‘000

2012
‘000

72,906
50,000
(50,000)
(2,250)
70,656

19,250
54,156
(500)
‐
72,906

NOTE 16: OPTIONS
a)
Number of options on issue
Balance at beginning of financial year
Add: Options issued
Less: Options exercised
Less: Options lapsed
Balance at end of financial year

b)

Details of options on issue
Number of options
2013
2012
‘000
‘000
500
‐
‐
‐
16,000
22,857
31,299
70,656

c)
i)
ii)
iii)

500
1,250
750
250
16,000
22,857
31,299
72,906

Exercise price

Vesting conditions

Expiry date

$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.37
$0.50
$0.35
$0.2556

Note 16(c)(i)
Note 16(c)(ii)
Vested
Note 16(c)(iii)
Vested
Vested
Vested

16 Apr 2014
8 May 2014
8 May 2014
31 Aug 2014
24 Oct 2014
06 Jun 2017
22 Oct 2017

Vesting dates
Upon securing finance for the full scale Wetar Copper Project.
On commencement of commercial production from the full scale Wetar Copper Project.
Upon production from the full scale Wetar Copper Project reaching 75% of nameplate design
capacity.
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

6,045
3,747
1,351
11,143

5,095
(2,050)
1,607
4,652

NOTE 17: RESERVES
Equity reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Share‐based payments reserve

a)
Equity reserve
The equity reserve arises from the acquisition of shares in a controlled entity from a minority
shareholder and the value of conversion rights attached to the convertible note and options granted.
b)
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign controlled subsidiaries.
c)
Share‐based payments reserve
The share‐based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of equity instruments issued to
employees.
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

1,622
4,228

1,681
3,644

5,850

5,325

1,781
18

426
10

1,799

436

NOTE 18: COMMITMENTS
a)
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting
date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
Plant and equipment
Payable within 1 year
Payable later than 1 year
but not later than 5 years

b)
Operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments in
relation to non‐cancellable operating leases
Payable within 1 year
Payable later than 1 year
but not later than 5 years

The Group leases offices and equipment under operating leases. The leases have varying terms and
renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Guarantees
Bank guarantee

33

33

The bank guarantee issued by the Company’s banker in favour of a third party to secure obligations
of the Company is secured by cash on deposit with the bank (Note 7).

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage Owned*
2013
%

2012
%

100.00
100.00
70.00
71.71
71.82

100.00
100.00
‐
71.71
71.82

NOTE 20: CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Banda Minerals Pty Ltd
PT Batutua Tembaga Raya
PT Batutua Kharisma Permai
Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd
PT Batutua Lampung Elok

Australia
Indonesia
Indonesia
Australia
Indonesia

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership
PT Batutua Kharisma Permai (“BKP”) became a 70%‐owned subsidiary of PT Batutua Tembaga Raya
(“BTR”) during the year following a restructure. Through BTR and BKP, the Finders group holds a
95% economic interest in the Wetar Copper Project. The acquisition of BKP has been accounted for
as an asset acquisition.
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NOTE 21: OPERATING SEGMENTS
The consolidated entity operates in two geographical locations, being Australia and Indonesia. Its
minerals business is based in Indonesia where it is developing a copper project on the island of Wetar
and conducting mineral exploration on Wetar Island and Sumatra. Copper mining is centred on the
Wetar Project where it operated a solvent extraction electro‐winning plant from February 2009 to
December 2010. The plant had a production capacity of 5 tonnes of copper cathode per day. It is
being upgraded to produce 8 tonnes of copper cathode per day.
The segment result comprises all costs directly attributable to the two operating segments in
Indonesia.
Total
Copper Mining
Exploration
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Unallocated revenue

68

147

Total revenue

68

147

(11,851)

(11,680)

(8,532)
(20,383)

(8,120)
(19,800)

‐

‐

(20,383)

(19,800)

46,097

35,275

7,499

447

53,596

35,722

6,102

3,585

Unallocated liabilities

1,299

12,331

Total liabilities

7,401

15,916

Revenue
Sales revenue

Result
Segment result

(11,387)

(11,158)

(464)

(522)

Administration
expenses
Loss before income tax
Income tax expense
Loss after income tax
Assets
Segment assets

45,770

34,971

327

304

Unallocated assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Segment liabilities

5,923

3,477

179

108

Geographical Segments
Revenue from Sales to
External Customers
2013
2012
$’000
$’000
Australia
Indonesia

‐
‐
‐
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‐
‐
‐

Segment Assets
2013
2012
$’000
$’000
7,499
46,097
53,596

177
35,545
35,722
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NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Detailed remuneration disclosures are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’
Report on pages 12 to 16.
2013
2012
$
$
a) Key management personnel compensation
Short‐term employment benefits
Post‐employment benefits
Share‐based payments

2,042,883
79,810
67,752
2,190,445

1,556,589
75,363
368,382
2,000,334

b) Equity instrument disclosures
(i) Shareholdings
Number of shares in respect of which Directors and other key management personnel have a
relevant interest directly or through related entities.
2013
Directors
Gary E Comb
(appointed 3 Jun 2013)
Barry J Cahill
(appointed 22 Aug 2013
Christopher B Farmer
Gavin A Caudle
(appointed 15 Aug 2013)
Gordon T Galt
(appointed 22 Aug 2013)
Russell J Fountain*
Robert P Thomson*
James H Wentworth*
Stephen R de Belle*
Stephen J Lonergan*

Balance
1 Jan 2013

Acquisitions
Incentive
shares

Exercise
of Options

Disposals
/Other

Balance
31 Dec 2013

250,000

7,500,000

‐

‐

7,750,000

‐

3,000,000

‐

‐

3,000,000

7,465,695
43,696,487

‐
‐

‐
2,346,401

‐
(2,500,000)

7,465,695
43,542,888

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

7,505,277
750,000
1,100,000
4,588,265
70,733

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(7,505,277)
(750,000)
‐
(4,588,265)
(70,733)

‐
‐
1,100,000‐
‐
‐

‐

‐

(715,000)

‐

2,346,401 (16,129,275)

62,858,583

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim (ceased 15
715,000
Aug 2013)
Total
66,141,457

10,500,000

*ceased to be a director during the year
Mr J H Wentworth ceased to be a director during the year but remained a key management person
as the Chief Financial Officer. There was no change in his shareholding during the year.
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2012

Balance
1 Jan 2012

Acquisitions
Incentive
shares

Exercise
of Options

Disposals
/Other

Balance
31 Dec 2012

7,505,277
7, 465,695
750,000
1,100,000
4,588,265
70,733

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

7,505,277
7, 465,695
750,000
1,100,000
4,588,265
70,733

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim
215,000
Total
21,694,970

‐
‐

500,000
500,000

‐
‐

715,000
22,194,970

Directors
Russell J Fountain
Christopher B Farmer
Robert P Thomson
James H Wentworth
Stephen R de Belle
Stephen J Lonergan

(ii) Option Holdings
Number of Options in respect of which Directors and other key management personnel have a
relevant interest, directly or through related entities.
2013

Balance
1 Jan 2013

Disposals
/Other

Balance
31 Dec 2013

Vested and
exercisable

Unvested

2,000,000

(2,000,000)

‐

‐

‐

(500,000)

‐

‐

‐

(2,500,000)

‐

‐

‐

Balance
1 Jan 2012

Exercised

Balance
31 Dec 2012

Vested and
exercisable

Unvested

2,000,000

‐

2,000,000

750,000

1,250,000

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim
1,000,000
Total
3,000,000

(500,000)
(500,000)

500,000
2,500,000

‐
750,000

500,000
1,750,000

Director
Robert P Thomson*

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim (ceased 15
500,000
Aug 2013)
Total
2,500,000
*ceased to be a director during the year
2012
Director
Robert P Thomson

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

‐
(252)
(252)

95
446
541

NOTE 23: SHARE‐BASED PAYMENTS
a)
Expense arising from share‐based payments
Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan
Shares issued under employee share scheme
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The Company had an Employee Share Option Plan which was replaced by an employee share
scheme during the year. These are designed to provide long‐term incentives to employees of the
consolidated entity. The schemes are administered by the Directors who have power to determine
the terms and conditions of the shares and options issued to eligible employees. Participation is at
the discretion of the Board.
b)
Shares granted
The Company has granted the incentive shares set out below to directors and employees of the
consolidated entity.
Grant Date

Expiry Date

8 Nov 2013
8 Nov 2013
8 Nov 2013
04 Apr 2012
21 Jan 2011
20 Apr 2011
30 Nov 2010

Exercise Price

7 Nov 2021
7 Nov 2021
7 Nov 2021
31 Mar 2017
30 Nov 2015
20 Apr 2016
30 Nov 2015

$0.2008
$0.2508
$0.3008
$0.39
$0.43
$0.43
$0.43

Number
2013
‘000

2012
‘000

3,500
3,500
3,500
‐
2,600
‐
1,857
14,957

‐
‐
‐
800
3,350
1,000
2,932
8,082

Vested and exercisable
2013
2012
‘000
‘000
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Fair value of shares granted
The fair value of the shares granted during the year were measured as the value of the options
inherent within the shares issued (Note 2(t)) and were estimated using the Black Scholes option
pricing model with the assumptions below. The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the life of the options inherent within the shares issued), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility derived from publicly available information.
Number
‘000

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price

Share
price at
grant date

Risk free
rate

Volatility

10,500

8 Nov 2013

7 Nov 2021

$0.2008‐
$0.3008

$0.20

3.25%

45.0%

c)

Options granted

Employee Share Option Plan
Grant Date

31 Aug 2009
16 Apr 2009
8 May 2009

Expiry Date Exercise Price

29 Aug 2014
16 Apr 2014
8 May 2014

Number
2013
‘000

$0.37
$0.30
$0.30

‐
500
‐
500
$0.30

Weighted average exercise price

2012
‘000

Vested and exercisable
2013
2012
‘000
‘000

250
500
2,000
2,750
$0.31

The vesting conditions attached to the options above are set out in Note 16.
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‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
750
750
$0.30
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Other options
The Company has granted the options set out below to lenders in consideration for the interest
bearing loan facility.
Grant Date

Expiry Date Exercise Price

24 Oct 2011
06 Jun 2012
22 Oct 2012

24 Oct 2014
06 Jun 2017
22 Oct 2017

Number

$0.50
$0.35
$0.2556

Weighted average exercise price

2013
‘000

2012
‘000

16,000
22,857
31,299
70,156
$0.34

16,000
22,857
31,299
70,156
$0.34

Vested and
exercisable
2013
2012
‘000
‘000
16,000
22,857
31,299
70,156
$0.34

16,000
22,857
31,299
70,156
$0.34

During the year, the Company also granted 50 million options exerciseable at $0.20 per share
pursuant to a share subscription agreement with Provident Capital Partners Pte Ltd. The options
were exercised during the year.
Fair value of options granted
The fair value of the options granted during the year were estimated using the Black Scholes option
pricing model with the assumptions below. The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the life of the options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
derived from publicly available information.
Number
‘000

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price

Share
price at
grant date

Risk free
rate

Volatility

50,000

30 Jan 2013

30 Sep 2013

$0.20

$0.185

3.00%

45.0%

2013
$

2012
$

78,000
3,000

93,000
19,300

35,500
17,755
134,255

33,913
117,154
263,367

NOTE 24: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and review of financial report
Tax consulting
PricewaterhouseCoopers Indonesia
Audit and review of financial report
Tax consulting
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NOTE 25: EARNINGS PER SHARE
2013
Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

Loss used to calculate basic and diluted
loss per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
calculating basic and diluted loss per share

2012

(5.0 cents)
(5.0 cents)

(6.9 cents)
(6.9 cents)

$’000

$’000

(20,383)

(19,800)

No.

No.

405,320,814

286,022,784

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

(20,383)

(19,800)

179
4,321
(255)
320
1,189
(512)
(91)

361
6,458
541
314
1,140
(40)
‐

(704)
41
(399)
(109)
2,278
544

2,593
230
93
49
(69)
140

(13,581)

(7,990)

14,440
509
‐

2,997
1,014
395

14,949

4,406

NOTE 26: RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME
TAX TO NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Depreciation and amortisation
Financing costs
Share based payments
Exploration expenditure
Development costs written‐off
Unrealised foreign exchange gain
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities ‐
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash used in operating activities
Non‐cash financing activities
Shares in the Company were issued during the financial
year for the following ‐
Convertible note/loan conversion
Loan conversion interest payable
Loan establishment/extension fee

47

FINDERS RESOURCES LIMITED

NOTE 27: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Parent entity
Finders Resources Limited is the ultimate parent entity of the group. Interests in subsidiaries
are set out in Note 20.
2013
$’000

(b)

2012
$’000

Directors and director‐related entities
Share placements (2,346,401 shares at $0.20 per
share) to Provident Minerals Pte Ltd, a company
in which Mr G A Caudle, who was appointed a
director of the Company on 15 August 2013, is a
significant shareholder.
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‐

(c)
Key Management Personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 22 and the Remuneration
Report.

NOTE 28: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The consolidated entity is headquartered in Australia and operates in Indonesia where it will be
developing the full scale Wetar Copper Project and conducting exploration on Wetar Island and at
the Ojolali gold‐silver project in Sumatra. It is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, commodity price risk and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk.
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the consolidated entity’s risk
management objectives and policies. The consolidated entity’s risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability and volatility of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the financial performance of the consolidated entity without unduly affecting its ability to
operate and function.
In respect to foreign currency risk, the Board has retained an external consultant to advise on this
risk.
a)
Market Risk
i)
Foreign currency risk
The consolidated entity operates in Indonesia and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
currency exposures, primarily the United States Dollar and the Indonesian Rupiah.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the consolidated entity’s functional
currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.
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ii)
Commodity price risk
The consolidated entity is exposed to adverse movements in the price of copper. The risk could be
managed through the use of derivative financial instruments such as forward sale and option
contracts. However the consolidated entity has not entered into any hedging instruments due to
the unpredictability of copper production from the demonstration plant and the prohibitive cost of
buying options.
iii)
Interest rate risk
The consolidated entity is exposed to interest rate risk through its cash deposits held with banks.
iv)
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties may default on their contractual obligation, resulting in a
financial loss to the consolidated entity. The risk arises from cash and deposits with financial
institutions and credit exposures to trade customers. The consolidated entity minimises this risk by
maintaining its banking and sales relationships with credit‐worthy parties.
v)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The consolidated entity manages its liquidity risk by closely
monitoring its forecast and actual cash flows. Until February 2011 the consolidated entity generated
some cash flow from the Wetar Copper Project. Its additional funding requirements are sourced
from debt finance and equity raisings. The appropriate level of liquidity is determined by cash flow
forecasting. Surplus funds are invested on short‐term deposits.
b)
Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis:
The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of
a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all
other financial instruments.
The total contractual cash flows at each maturity date is equal to the carrying value except for the
loans in the tables below. The unsecured loans had a face value of $14,440,000.
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Fixed Interest Rate Maturing

Consolidated
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents
Security deposit

Note

Weighted Average
Effective Interest
Rate
2013
2012
%
%

Total Financial Liabilities

Within 1 year
2013
2012
$’000
$’000

Within 1 to 5 years
2013
2012
$’000
$’000

TOTAL
2013
2012
$’000
$’000

5

2.74

3.76

7,872

1,770

‐

‐

‐

‐

7,872

1,770

7

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

38

38

38

38

7,872

1,770

‐

‐

38

38

7,910

1,808

‐

‐

‐

14,440

‐

‐

14,440

‐

‐

‐

14,440

‐

‐

14,440

Total Financial Assets
Financial
Liabilities:
Loans

Floating Interest Rate
2013
2012
$’000
$’000

13

‐

8.00
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Consolidated
Financial Assets:
Receivables
Security deposit
Investment

Note

6
7
7

Total Financial Assets
Financial
Liabilities:
Trade and other
payables
Current tax
liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

12

Non Interest Bearing
Within 1 year
Within 1 to 5 years
2013
2012
2013
2012
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

TOTAL
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

358
‐
‐

753
‐
351

1,445
110
‐

345
88
‐

1,803
110
‐

1,098
88
351

358

1,104

1,555

433

1,913

1,537

4,576

2,298

‐

‐

4,576

2,298

156

‐

‐

‐

156

‐

4,732

2,298

‐

‐

4,732

2,298
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c)
Net Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet are carried at amounts
approximate to fair value.
d)
Sensitivity Analysis
Interest Rate Risk, Foreign Currency Risk and Commodity Price Risk
The consolidated entity has performed sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and commodity price risk at balance date. This
sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which
could result from a change in these risks.
Commodity price sensitivity analysis
The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the price of copper, with all other
variables remaining constant would be as follows:
2013
2012
$’000
$’000
Change in profit
Increase in copper price by 10%
‐
90
Decrease in copper price by 10%
‐
(90)
Change in total equity
Increase in copper price by 10%
‐
90
Decrease in copper price by 10%
‐
(90)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other
variables remaining constant would be as follows:
Change in profit
Increase in interest rate by 2%
Decrease in interest rate by 2%
Change in total equity
Increase in interest rate by 2%
Decrease in interest rate by 2%

48
(48)

26
(26)

48
(48)

26
(26)

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis
The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to
the United States Dollar, with all other variables remaining constant is as follows:
Change in profit
‐
Improvement in AUD to USD by 5%
‐
Decline in AUD to USD by 5%
Change in total equity
‐
Improvement in AUD to USD by 5%
‐
Decline in AUD to USD by 5%
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(237)

265
(265)

237
(237)

265
(265)
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Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis
The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to
the Indonesian Rupiah, with all other variables remaining constant is as follows:

Change in profit
Improvement in AUD to IDR by 5%
‐
Decline in AUD to IDR by 5%
Change in total equity
Improvement in AUD to IDR by 5%
‐
Decline in AUD to IDR by 5%

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

184
(184)

135
(135)

184
(184)

135
(135)

Parent Entity
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

6,827
103,142

131
78,631

915
950

12,331
12,331

137,358

96,488

6,233
1,351
(42,105)
102,837

5,283
1,606
(36,517)
66,860

(5,588)
(5,588)

(19,817)
(19,817)

29: PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Balance sheet
Current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Equity reserve
Share‐based payments reserve
Accumulated losses

Loss for the year
Total comprehensive income

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
No guarantees were entered into by the parent entity.
Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
There are no contingent liabilities.
Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
No contractual commitments were entered into by the parent entity.
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30. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
Subsequent to balance date, the Company raised $10.0 million through a share placement of
55.5 million shares at $0.18 per share, of which $5.0 million of the share application money was
received prior to balance date and has been recognised in the financial statements as “Share capital
received in advance” (Note 15).
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Finders
Resources Limited
Report on the finøncío."l report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Finders Resources Limited (the company),
which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 3r December zor3, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equþ and consolidated cash flow
statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other
explanatory notes and the directors' declaration for Finders Resources Limited (the consolidated
entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at year's end or
from time to time during the financial year.

Directors' responsibility for

the

financial r eport

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act zoot
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation ofthe
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note r, the
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB tot Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Audit o r's r e sp onsib íIity
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the consolidated
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act zoot.

PrìcewqterhouseCoopers,A3.N gz 78o 4gS 757
DarLing ParkTower z, zot Sussex Street, GPO BOX z6go, SYDNEY NSW ttTt
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999,LutDur.pwc.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional56
Standards Legislation.
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Auditor's opinion
In our opinion:

(a)

(b)

the financial report of Finders Resources Limited is in accordance with
zoor, including:

The

Corporations Act

a true and fair view of the consolidated entþ's financial position as at 31 December
zor3 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(Ð

giving

(iÐ

compþing with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations zoot.

the financial report and notes also complywith International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note r.

Møteríø.LUncertqínfu Regørdíng Contínuø,tíon øs a Goíng Concer¡t
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note r in the financial report, which comments
on the additional debt and equityfunding negotiations. These conditions, along with other matters as
set forth in Note r indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the entity's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the entþ may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the
financial report.

Report on the R:etnunerøtíorr Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages rz to 16 of the directors' report for the year
ended 3r December 2019. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 3ooA of the Corporations Act
zoot. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor's opínion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Finders Resources Limited for the year ended 3r December
complies with section 3ooA of the Corporations Act zoot

M

Sydney
zB March zor4

Partner
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